TROPHIC AND CYTOPROTECTIVE NUTRITION FOR INTESTINAL ADAPTATION, MUCOSAL REPAIR, AND BARRIER FUNCTION

Thomas R. Ziegler^{1,3}, Mary E. Evans^{1,3}, Concepción Fernández-Estívariz^{1,3}, and Dean P. Jones^{2,3}

¹Department of Medicine, ²Department of Biochemistry, and ³Center for Clinical and Molecular Nutrition, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30322; email: tzieg01@emory.edu, meevans@emory.edu, cferna2@learnlink.emory.edu, dpjones@emory.edu

Key Words diet, glutamine, inflammation, intestinal mucosa

■ Abstract Intestinal epithelial cell turnover (proliferation, migration, differentiation, and apoptosis) and gut barrier functions are dynamic processes that are markedly affected by nutritional status, the route of feeding, and the adequacy of specific nutrients in the diet. Emerging studies are defining potential therapeutic roles for specific nutrients and diet-derived compounds (including arginine, glutamate, glutamine, glutathione, glycine, vitamin A, zinc, and specific lipids) in gut mucosal turnover, repair, adaptation after massive bowel resection, and barrier function. The role and regulation of endogenous bowel flora in generating short-chain fatty acids from diet-derived fiber and other diet-derived compounds and the effects of these agents on gut function are increasingly being elucidated. Results of these investigations should define new nutritional methods for trophic and cytoprotective effects on the intestine in conditions such as inflammatory bowel disease, malnutrition, and short bowel syndrome.

CONTENTS

EFFECTS OF NUTRITIONAL STATUS AND ROUTE OF FEEDING	
ON GUT MUCOSAL GROWTH AND ADAPTATION	. 230
GLUTAMINE	. 232
Inflammatory Bowel Disease	. 233
Short Bowel Syndrome	. 234
Radiation/Chemotherapy/Critical Illness	. 235
GLUTAMATE	. 237
GLYCINE AND HISTIDINE	. 238
ARGININE	. 238
Glutathione and Other Dietary Antioxidants in Intestinal Disorders	. 240
VITAMIN A	. 242
FATTY ACIDS AND PROSTAGLANDINS	. 243

Inflammatory Bowel Disease	. 243
Short Bowel Syndrome	. 244
Critical Illness/Radiation/Chemotherapy	. 245
DIETARY FIBER, SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACIDS, AND PREBIOTICS	. 245
ZINC	. 248
SUMMARY	. 249

The mammalian intestinal mucosa is one of the most rapidly replicating tissues in the body (91, 185). For example, kinetic studies in rodents demonstrate that the small intestinal epithelium is completely replaced every two to three days (91, 185). In small bowel, stem cells located in the crypt region differentiate into enterocytes, enteroendocrine cells, and mucus-secreting goblet cells. These specialized cells migrate upward along the intestinal villus and eventually undergo apoptosis or are extruded into the gut lumen (23, 91, 135). Paneth cells, whose function appears to involve barrier defense against luminal microorganisms, move downward into the crypt base region (23, 135). Small bowel and colonic cell turnover is a function of rates of gut mucosal stem cell proliferation, migration along the crypt-villus axis in small bowel and along the crypts in colon, and cell death via apoptosis (23, 135). Recent nutrition research has focused on regulation of anatomic and immunologic gut barrier functions that protect against invasion (translocation) of endogenous luminal microorganisms and/or their toxins (188, 202).

EFFECTS OF NUTRITIONAL STATUS AND ROUTE OF FEEDING ON GUT MUCOSAL GROWTH AND ADAPTATION

Generalized malnutrition, protein depletion, or deficiencies of specific nutrients, including essential fatty acids, folate, zinc, vitamin A, and vitamin B12 inhibit the growth and turnover of the intestinal mucosa (54, 89, 185, 201). During total starvation or severe protein-calorie malnutrition, the enteric mucosal and muscular layers atrophy to a disproportionate degree compared to the changes in body mass and weight of other tissues (26, 199). Malnutrition is also associated with altered or diminished intestinal cell digestive/absorptive capacity (54, 168). Generalized malnutrition induced by fasting for one to three days in rats causes a significant decrease in villus height and/or crypt depth in jejunum, ileum, and, to a lesser extent, colon (52, 199). In addition, fasting and other forms of protein-energy malnutrition are associated with gut mucosal cell impairment marked by decreased levels of reduced glutathione (GSH), the major intracellular thiol antioxidant, enhanced permeability to macromolecules, increased bacterial translocation from the lumen, and stimulation of epithelial cell apoptotis (89, 92, 202). Food deprivation also significantly reduces the specific activity and expression of certain digestive enzymes in the small bowel mucosa (91, 185). In rabbits, a 72-h fast significantly reduced transport capacity for glutamine (Gln) and arginine (Arg) in small bowel brush border membrane vesicles, due to a decreased number of functional amino acid transporter proteins per mg mucosal protein (146). Refeeding via the enteral route results in rapid stimulation of small bowel, and, to a lesser extent, colonic mucosal growth, upregulates mucosal GSH redox state, increases expression of digestive enzymes and nutrient transporters, and normalizes intestinal barrier function (92, 185). In rodents, pigs, and other animals, increased intestinal cell proliferation (hypertrophy and hyperplasia) also occurs in remnant small bowel and colon after massive bowel resection, a process known as intestinal adaptation (200).

The route of feeding and the complexity of the diet influence intestinal cell proliferative and barrier functions as well as fecal flora composition (139, 185). Parenteral nutrition (PN) and provision of elemental or semi-elemental enteral diets (e.g., containing free amino acids and simple sugars) are associated with mucosal atrophy and increased translocation of luminal bacteria (133, 185). This occurs despite provision of adequate micro- and macronutrients, presumably because these modalities do not adequately stimulate factors important for intestinal cell renewal and/or provide inadequate amounts of specific nutrients. The atrophic effects of PN or elemental enteral diets are rapidly reversed when enteral diets containing whole protein, complex carbohydrates, and fiber are given (185, 201).

Both the quantity and quality of food intake are known to regulate gastrointestinal hormones that are important in gut growth and repair, including gastrin, epidermal growth factor (EGF), and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) (201) Milk is a nutrient source rich in a variety of gut-trophic growth factors including GH, IGF-I, insulin, prolactin, and EGF. These peptides interact with specific gut mucosal receptors to stimulate regeneration and function of enterocytes and may also be absorbed for systemic effects on the whole body (201). The gut is a target tissue for IGF-I (199, 200), a nutrient-stimulated growth factor available to mucosal cells via autocrine and paracrine routes, the circulation (endocrine) route, and the gut lumen (via milk, saliva, and pancreatic-biliary secretions). Food deprivation in rats markedly decreases plasma and small bowel expression of IGF-I, but IGF-I levels are rapidly upregulated with refeeding (199). Thus, nutrients in the lumen appear to be important for adequate synthesis of local growth factors that, in turn, may regulate mucosal cell turnover and renewal. Luminal nutrients also increase pancreatic-biliary secretions, gut neuronal activity, peristalsis, and splanchnic blood flow, among other effects (Table 1). Certain growth factors and specific nutrients may interact in a synergistic or additive manner to increase the growth, repair, and barrier function of the gut mucosa (201).

The vast majority of the information summarized above has been derived from animal models and relatively little information is available from human studies on the intestinal effects of nutritional status, depletion of essential nutrients, use of parenteral nutrition, and intestinal adaptation after bowel resection (29, 134, 204). Mild mucosal atrophy is observed after long-term PN, but this is reversed with the administration of complex enteral diets (29, 134). Limited data to date suggest that the dynamic intestinal growth response to massive small bowel resection observed in rodent models may not occur in humans (204). Despite knowledge of

TABLE 1 Potential mechanisms of intestinal growth related to luminal nutrition

- Increased splanchnic blood flow and oxygen, nutrient, and growth factor delivery to gut mucosal cells
- · Increased gut neuronal activity and peristalsis
- Increased salivary, gastric, pancreatic-biliary, and gut epithelial cell secretions, with increased delivery of growth factors, glutathione, etc., to the gut lumen
- Direct delivery of nutrients to mucosal cells via the lumen
- Provision of antioxidant nutrients present in food
- Mucosal generation of growth factors for endocrine, paracrine, and/or autocrine action

the physiology of gut epithelial cell renewal and nutritional factors that affect it, underlying molecular mechanisms responsible for regulation of cell growth and repair in response to diet and specific nutrients remain unclear. Major gut-trophic nutrient substrates are outlined in Table 2 and are covered below.

GLUTAMINE

The amino acid Gln has become one of the most intensively studied nutrients in gastrointestinal research (48, 109). Gln is a substrate in many key metabolic processes, including inter-organ nitrogen transfer, protein synthesis, gluconeogenesis, acid-base homeostasis, and nucleic acid biosynthesis. Gln is also utilized as a major fuel/substrate by intestinal mucosal cells and by immune cells throughout the body, including those of the gut-associated immune system (109, 148, 187, 202). Gln also serves as a substitute for biosynthesis of glutamate (Glu), which is also used as an intestinal fuel.

Gln is a nonessential amino acid and is adequately synthesized to meet metabolic needs during health, but appears to be required in greater quantities under certain catabolic conditions owing, in part, to its increased utilization by the

TABLE 2 Some nutrients and dietary substrates with beneficial effects on the intestinal tract

- Arginine
- Dietary fiber
- Glutamine
- Glutathione
- Short-chain fatty acids
- Vitamin A
- Zinc
- Enteral feeding in general (versus parenteral feeding)

gastrointestinal tract (48, 201). During illness, skeletal muscle exports large amounts of Gln into the blood (>35% of all amino acid nitrogen). Concomitantly, Gln-utilizing tissues such as the gut and immune cells markedly increase Gln uptake and metabolism. When tissue Gln utilization exceeds endogenous production, plasma Gln levels decrease (as a function of illness severity) (109). Provision of conventional PN (in which Gln is typically absent) or enteral feedings (which typically contain low amounts of Gln) do not appear to adequately meet Gln requirements during severe illness.

It has been proposed that gut mucosal turnover and barrier function is compromised during stress states due, in part, to relative Gln deficiency (109, 202). In support of this hypothesis, numerous studies in animal models show that enteral or parenteral Gln supplementation enhances gut mucosal growth, repair, and function, decreases gut-origin sepsis and inflammation, and improves nitrogen balance in animal models of intestinal atrophy, injury, and adaptation (109, 200, 202). Gln also functions as a precursor to GSH, a potent antioxidant that detoxifies free radicals, toxins, and carcinogens (94).

Several investigations suggest that Gln or Gln dipeptide administration improves growth and/or function of gut mucosal cells in humans (202). Addition of either L-Gln or the dipeptide alanyl-glutamine increased cellular proliferation in cells isolated ex vivo from ileal and proximal and distal colonic mucosal biopsies of normal adults (148). PN-dependent patients given glycyl-Gln-supplementation of PN versus standard Gln-free PN demonstrated significantly increased duodenal villus height and decreased intestinal permeability (173).

Inflammatory Bowel Disease

An increasingly active area of in vivo Gln research involves models of gut mucosal inflammation (114). Earlier studies in rodents and pigs demonstrated beneficial effects of enteral or parenteral Gln as a method to diminish mucosal injury following experimental colitis, abdominal irradiation, chemotherapy, and sepsis (109, 195, 202). A recent study showed that a Gln-enriched diet significantly decreased enteritis and bacterial translocation after a single large dose of abdominal radiation in rats (51). In a porcine model of ischemic ileitis, luminal L-Gln infusion enhanced postinjury ileal recovery of enzymes critical for mucosal triacylglycerol biosynthesis, while combination treatment with Gln + transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α) improved iteal mucosal healing (2). In a rat indomethacin-iteitis model, oral Gln administration (given either before or after injury) significantly attenuated macroscopic ileal mucosal injury and microcirculatory disturbances (increased leukocyte adherance, leukocyte rolling, venular wall shear) (13). Trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis was significantly attenuated and colonic levels of malondialdehyde, an index of oxidative stress, were reduced when animals were given L-Gln enemas (2% solution given twice daily for seven days postinduction of colitis) (97). Dietary Gln supplementation decreased bacterial translocation, proinflammatory cytokine production, and colonic injury in the inflamed tissue of colitic rats (8). Oral Gln also reduced endotoxin levels and improved the mucosal barrier defense in guinea pigs with experimental colitis (57). In contrast, another study showed that rats given different levels of enteral L-Gln (0, 12%, 24% of dietary nitrogen) for one, three, or five weeks after TNBS-induced colitis demonstrated worsened colonic injury with the highest Gln dose and no improvement with lower doses (153). Foitzik et al. found that oral L-Gln had no effect on colonic permeability or infection rates in TNBS colitis; however, Gln supplementation did significantly improve colonic blood flow in noninjured areas of colonic mucosa (56).

Supplemental Gln did not improve outcomes in two small clinical trials in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). In one study, 21 g/day L-Gln or glycine (control) was given for four weeks to adult Crohn disease (CD) patients with demonstrated increased gut permeability (44). Gln treatment did not significantly alter plasma Gln levels, gut permeability, or disease activity compared to controls (44). A Gln-enriched diet (42% of dietary amino acids as Gln) also did not benefit a group of children with active CD compared to a standard low-Gln diet (4). However, these small studies must be interpreted with caution as these authors used a relatively high level of Gln. As a fuel for immune cells, Gln has the potential to increase gut mucosal inflammatory responses (202). Additional clinical research on the potential beneficial role of Gln in gut inflammatory states (enteral and parenteral) seems warranted in light of the animal data to date and benefits observed in other clinical disorders (202).

Short Bowel Syndrome

Results of Gln supplementation have been mixed in animal models of short bowel syndrome (SBS), with some studies showing stimulation of adaptive gut mucosal growth (68, 164, 200) and others showing no effect (119, 174). However, in some of these studies parenteral feeding with Gln enrichment was used (68, 164). The relative efficacy of enteral versus parenteral Gln on gut growth and function in SBS is unknown. In vitro studies show that Gln is essential for endogenous and growth factor-stimulated intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and this amino acid also inhibits gut epithelial cell apoptosis (99, 202). Furthermore, some studies in animal models of SBS suggest that the combination Gln and growth hormone (GH) or IGF-I has additive or synergistic effects on intestinal adaptative growth following small bowel resection (196, 200). Zhou et al. found that Gln + GH resulted in an additive increase in gut glucose and palmitate absorption in resected rats (196). Conversely, another study found that although GH improved anabolic indices in parenterally fed small bowel-resected rats, parenteral Gln + GH did not have an additive effect (72). We recently demonstrated that diets enriched in L-Gln upregulate mucosal GSH redox indices in residual small bowel of rats following massive small bowel resection (71). In a rat model of partial small bowel resection and orthotopic jejunal transplantation, Gln-supplemented organ preservation solution protected intestinal segments from cold ischemic injury and improved mucosal transport function (195). Gln-enriched enteral diets also decreased in vivo bacterial translocation (195).

Clinical trials of Gln administration, alone and in combination with GH, have been performed and others are currently underway in human SBS. In a recent crossover study, Scolapio et al. (150) found that 30 g/day of supplemental oral L-Gln combined with a high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet had no effect on duodenal villus height and crypt depth, gastric emptying, or intestinal fluid, xylose, and fat absorption in eight patients with severe chronic SBS. A pilot unblinded study by Byrne et al. (31) in patients with PN-dependent SBS showed that a three-week regimen of GH administration, intravenous or oral Gln (30 g/day), and a highcarbohydrate/low-fat diet significantly improved intestinal sodium, fluid, nitrogen, and energy absorption and improved lean body mass. In a larger group of chronic SBS patients undergoing the same protocol of GH + Gln + diet modification for three weeks followed by maintenance on the modified diet and Gln supplementation alone, PN requirements were either eliminated or markedly decreased in a large proportion of the patients at follow-up one year later (32). A recent unblinded study also suggested that the combination of GH + Gln + diet modification improved gut nutrient absorption and decreased PN needs in patients studied in the acute phase after massive small bowel resection (197). However, two small double-blind randomized studies in chronic SBS patients (using different regimens of GH + Gln + diet and antidiarrheal drug strategies) have shown whole body anabolic effects with this treatment but no marked effects on gut nutrient absorption (149, 162), although one of these studies found a significant improvement in intestinal electrolyte absorption with this therapy (149). In light of the limited clinical data to date, and the suggestion of benefit from some studies, additional randomized, controlled trials of Gln alone and GH + Gln in the context of appropriate dietary modification seem warranted. These are needed to define optimal patient selection criteria (e.g., nature of residual bowel, age, underlying illnesses), timing and duration of therapy, and specific dietary regimens. In addition, other growth factors, such as glucagonlike peptide-2, hold promise and could be combined with Gln or other dietary manipulations to study gut adaptive processes (88).

Underlying nutritional status, adherence to SBS dietary guidelines (small frequent feedings, avoidance of simple sugars, decreased intake of fat and specific food items that worsen diarrhea, use of oral rehydration solutions), and appropriate use of antidiarrheal medication regimens likely have a major impact on the intestinal responses to Gln (and growth factor) treatment (32, 172). Thus, to define the true efficacy of Gln therapy, future clinical studies in SBS will need to carefully control for these variables. Larger, controlled clinical trials and more uniform patient selection and treatments are necessary to define the efficacy of combination Gln and growth factor treatment in SBS.

Radiation/Chemotherapy/Critical Illness

Numerous studies in animals and an increasing number in humans demonstrate benefits of supplemental Gln on the small bowel in catabolic stress models (e.g., infection, trauma, chemotherapy/irradiation) (48, 93, 202). In a rat splanchnic ischemia/reperfusion model, luminal L-Gln decreased small bowel mucosal injury, improved ionic transport function, and upregulated mucosal ATP levels (105). Enteral Gln supplementation is effective in preventing radiation-induced

enteropathy in rats (37, 39, 51, 82). Clinical studies in this area have not been conducted, thus the role of Gln supplementation in patients receiving radiation therapy alone remains unknown. Several clinical trials have been published on the effects of parenteral and enteral Gln supplementation as a strategy to decrease oral mucositis after high-dose chemotherapy and irradiation (203). No effect on mucositis has been observed with administration of intravenous Gln. However, some, but not all, of several controlled studies demonstrated decreased incidence or severity of mucositis with Gln given as a swish-and-swallow regimen (203).

An increasing number of clinical investigations demonstrate that Gln-supplemented enteral and parenteral nutrition support decreases hospital-acquired infections and improves other clinical outcomes (hospital length of stay, posthospital survival) in critically ill patients (48, 66, 69, 80, 93, 110, 128, 131, 186, 189, 198) (Table 3). Although gut mucosal histology or specific functions were not evaluated in these trials, the decrease in infections from organisms that colonize the GI tract suggests that Gln-enriched nutrition may improve gut barrier function. In one study, critically ill patients given PN enriched with alanyl-Gln dipeptide had significantly greater D-xylose absorption (194% increase) compared to matched patients receiving Gln-free PN (48).

In summary, numerous studies in animal models and an increasing number of clinical trials indicate that Gln-supplemented nutrition has beneficial effects in

TABLE 3 Clinical, intestinal, and metabolic effects of enteral or parenteral glutamine supplementation observed in recent clinical trials*

- Improved nitrogen retention (IV Gln in postoperative, BMT, and trauma patients)
- Maintained skeletal muscle glutamine concentrations (IV Gln in postoperative patients)
- Increased protein synthesis (IV Gln in postoperative patients)
- Increased systemic lymphocyte cell number (IV and enteral Gln in postoperative, BMT, trauma patients)
- Maintained jejunal villus height and intestinal permeability during PN (IV Gln in stable PN-dependent patients)
- Improved D-xylose absorption (IV Gln in critically ill ICU patients)
- Improved intestinal nutrient absorption when combined with a modified diet and growth hormone (IV and enteral Gln in SBS patients)
- Reduced microbial colonization and clinical infection rates and shortened hospital length of stay after bone marrow transplantation (IV Gln in BMT patients)
- Decreased rates of bacteremia (enteral Gln in premature infants, IV Gln in burn patients)
- Decreased rates of pneumonia, bacteremia, and systemic sepsis (enteral Gln in trauma patients)
- Improved six-month survival after ICU discharge (IV Gln in critically ill ICU patients)

^{*}Abbreviations: BMT, bone marrow transplantation; Gln, glutamine; ICU, intensive care unit; IV, intravenous; SBS, short bowel syndrome

certain clinical situations. Although much work on Gln mechanisms of action in the gut remains to be done, the existing literature suggests a number of potential mechanisms by which Gln exerts beneficial effects on intestinal cells (Table 4) (109, 186, 188, 202).

GLUTAMATE

Glutamate (Glu) is an important constituent of dietary protein and can be formed, with ammonia, from Gln via glutaminase. A body of recent work by Reeds, Burrin, and colleagues strongly suggests that Glu is a major substrate of the intestinal epithelial cells. Using isotopic tracer and arteriovenous difference methods in infant pigs, these authors found that labeled enteral Glu was almost completely (95%) metabolized by the gut during absorption (139a). In a subsequent study in fed piglets, enterally administered Glu was demonstrated to be a preferential substrate for small bowel mucosal GSH synthesis (139b). Additional studies in growing pigs showed that approximately 50% of enterally presented Glu was metabolized to CO₂ and that this level of metabolism toward energy was much higher than either glucose or Gln in this model. Reeds and colleagues also showed that enteral Glu was a specific precursor for GSH, arginine, and proline by small bowel mucosa (139c). Taken together, these studies indicate that diet-derived Glu plays an important role in intestinal physiology and metabolism. However, surprisingly little investigation on the role of Glu supplementation in models of gut inflammation, injury, or adaptation has been performed. In one study, pigs fed a low-protein diet demonstrated suppressed oxidation of Glu (and leucine) compared to controls, while the percentage of glucose oxidized for energy increased under these conditions of undernutrition (176a). In a catabolic rat burn model, animals were fed a conventional control diet or a diet in which Glu was supplemented to 30%

TABLE 4 Some mechanisms of action of glutamine in intestinal growth, repair, and function

- Use as an energy substrate
- Stimulation of protein synthesis
- Stimulation of cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis
- Enhanced growth factor signaling (via mitogen activated protein kinase pathway)
- · Stimulation of epithelial cell migration
- Upregulation of mucosal cell glutathione production (source of glutamate)
- Upregulation of heat-shock proteins
- Increased number and function of gut-associated immune cells
- Decreased bacterial translocation
- Decreased proinflammatory cytokine responses

of total dietary amino acid for 64 h after injury; the Glu-supplemented group had a significantly greater concentration of GSH in small bowel mucosa and significantly increased gut mucosal protein synthesis (77a). Additional studies on the efficacy of dietary (or intravenous) Glu as a trophic and cytoprotective nutrient are needed.

GLYCINE AND HISTIDINE

Recent in vivo studies suggest that dietary or luminal glycine and histidine may have protective effects on gastrointestinal tissues and supplementation studies in diarrheal illness are in progress. Dietary glycine supplementation decreases hepatic injury in models of endotoxemia, hemorrhagic shock, ischemia-reperfusion and liver transplantation (184). Glycine perfusion of isolated vascularly perfused intestine decreased small intestinal mucosal ischemia-reperfusion injury in a rat model (111). Prefeeding with supplemental glycine decreased lung and liver (but not ileal) injury and decreased proinflammatory cytokine elaboration in a two-hit model of sepsis in rats (70). In mouse, small intestinal loops challenged with Salmonella typhimurium, fluid accumulation, acute inflammation, and extensive structural damage to the small intestinal mucosa occurred (132). However, intraperitoneal and intestinal luminal injection of L-histidine reduced the amount of fluid accumulating in the intestinal lumen and protected the intestinal tissue from S. typhimurium-induced damage (132).

ARGININE

Several lines of evidence suggest that arginine (Arg) supplementation may have beneficial effects on the intestine (48, 49, 61, 155). Arg is an intermediary metabolite in the urea cycle, where it is hydrolyzed to urea and ornithine by the enzyme arginase and thus is indirectly linked to the citric acid cycle and the oxidation of fuel molecules for energy (49, 61). Arg plays an important role in nitrogen transport, storage, and excretion and the small intestine is an important site of Arg metabolism (48). Conversion to ornithine explains arginine's role in the production of polyamines, which are key molecules involved in cellular growth and differentiation. A large number of animal studies suggest that Arg-supplemented enteral feeding has beneficial effects on systemic immune cell number and/or function (48). In addition to these immunostimulatory effects, Arg-enriched diets attenuate thymic atrophy, improve animal survival to septic challenge, and enhance wound healing (190, 192).

L-Arg is the substrate for synthesis of nitric oxide (NO), formed through oxidation of guanidine groups of L-Arg by NO synthase (NOS) (107). Arg's role in NO production is critical to the body's homeostatic mechanisms, because NO is a major regulator of the vascular endothelium as a vasodilator and is involved in macrophage physiology and cellular inflammatory responses, among other

cellular functions. The constitutive NOS isoenzymes [endothelial (eNOS) and neuronal (nNos)] generate low concentrations of NO, but the inducible isoenzyme (iNOS) produces large amounts of NO in response to a variety of cytokines, growth factors, and inflammatory stimuli in gut and other tissues (190). The constitutively expressed NOS is critical for normal physiology, but the role of local NO production via iNOS in mediating intestinal inflammation remains controversial. NO has been identified as an inflammatory mediator in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Patients with active ulcerative colitis have increased iNOS and NO concentrations in inflamed colonic mucosa compared with noninflamed controls (192). In some studies, a positive correlation between colonic NO levels and disease activity was observed; treatment with corticosteroids and 5-aminosalicylates decrease NO production via inhibition of iNOS (74). In contrast, local NO also appears to inhibit intestinal inflammation because iNOS-deficient mice have increased gut mucosal injury in response to inflammatory agents (107). Inhibition of NO synthesis also increases intestinal damage in animal models of bowel injury induced by surgical stress, ischemia, toxins, and hypoxia (6, 107, 167, 192). NO production plays a crucial role in maintaining intestinal blood flow and causes local vasodilation in the face of inflammation or injury (6, 107). Depending on the experimental system, NO has been shown to variously stimulate or inhibit cell proliferation, apoptosis, and cellular differentiation during intestinal inflammation and injury (192). NO also stimulated epithelial cell migration, and reduction of paracellular transepithelial permeability also appears to be involved in the maintenance of gastrointestinal barrier function (192).

In mice, Arg supplementation of drinking water attenuated hypoxia/reoxygenation-induced necrotizing enterocolitis histologically and decreased reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced mucosal lipid peroxidation (3). Arg-supplemented diets (2% by weight) improved survival in gut-derived sepsis and peritonitis by modulating bacterial clearance in mice; these effects were significantly attenuated by the nitric oxide inhibitor N- α -nitro-L-arginine (NNA) (65). Insufficient NO production by premature infants secondary to developmentally deficient gut NOS may be associated with the incidence of necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), a severe clinical syndrome very similar to experimental ischemia-reperfusion injury (107). Plasma Arg concentrations are decreased in premature infants with NEC (18, 194). Intravenous infusion of L-Arg ameliorated intestinal injury in experimental models of NEC (46). In a recent double-blind controlled study, 152 premature infants received supplemental L-Arg (1.5 mmol/kg/day) or placebo with oral feeds and/or parenteral nutrition during the first days of life (9). NEC developed only in 5 infants in the Arg-supplemented group compared with 21 infants in the placebo group (P < 0.001). The authors did not observe any significant adverse effects including hypotension with Arg supplemention. Plasma Arg levels increased significantly at 14 and 28 days with supplementation, and were lower in those infants with the diagnosis of NEC (9).

Arg supplementation has been shown to improve wound healing and immune cell function in animal and human models of gastrointestinal ulceration and surgery (28, 49, 190) and accelerates intestinal mucosal regeneration after radiotherapy (192). In iNOS-deficient mice, wound healing is delayed and positive effects of supplemental L-Arg do not occur, suggesting that the metabolism of arginine via iNOS is essential for wound healing (151). An additional effect of arginine on wound healing is mediated through its immunostimulatory effects. Dietary supplementation of Arg is accompanied by an increase in lymphocyte and monocyte function, activation of macrophage and natural killer cytotoxicity, increased phagocytosis, and increased cytokine production (157).

Administration of enteral liquid supplements or tube feeding formulas enriched in Arg and other immunomodulatory nutrients, including n-3 fatty acids, Gln, and nucleotides, reduce hospital infectious complications and overall length of stay after gastrointestinal or pancreatic surgery for cancer (17). These positive clinical outcomes are also associated with increased serum NO concentrations and improved immune function, nutritional status, and ileal blood flow (27, 141). A recent randomized controlled trial showed that preoperative or perioperative oral supplementation with a specialized formula enriched in Arg, n-3 fatty acids, and RNA significantly decreased infectious complications and length of hospital stay in patients undergoing elective surgery for gastrointestinal cancer (64). No clear adverse effects on blood pressure or hemodynamic stability attributable to enteral or parenteral Arg administration have been reported in humans at doses of 10–30 g/day (192). However, a recent review of data from a large number of completed clinical trials suggested that an increase in mortality with the use of Arg-enriched immmunomodulatory enteral diets may occur in critically ill, unstable patients with severe sepsis, possibly due to potential vasodilator effects of Arg-derived NO (78).

The role of Arg in tumorigenesis remains ambiguous (115). Arg supplementation may enhance or suppress tumor growth in animal models depending on the relative activities of NOS and arginase pathways (192) and the stage of carcinogenesis. Arg supplementation given to rats receiving a carcinogen decreased colorectal tumor production and crypt cell hyperproliferation during the initiation stage of carcinogenesis but stimulated colorectal tumor growth when given during the promotion stage (115). On the other hand, Arg enhanced antitumor immune function in cancer patients without any adverse effect on clinical outcome (27).

Glutathione and Other Dietary Antioxidants in Intestinal Disorders

GLUTATHIONE Glutathione (L-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine; GSH) is the major cellular thiol and plays a key role in detoxification of cellular free radicals, toxins, and carcinogens in gut and other tissues (94). GSH is synthesized in gut mucosal cells, can be derived from diet (as the intact tripeptide or via synthesis via dietary sulfur amino acids, Gln, glycine, and Glu) or may enter the lumen via bile or by direct secretion by mucosal cells (15, 30, 94). GSH is required for normal intestinal function, in part, by protecting epithelial cell membranes from damage by electrophiles and fatty acid hydroperoxides and by maintaining mucus

fluidity (16, 127). Recent in vitro and in vivo studies in gut epithelial cells show that compared to cells undergoing differentiation, GSH concentrations are higher and GSH redox potential more reducing when cells undergo proliferation (92, 130).

Malnutrition is known to diminish glutathione levels in body tissues, including the gut (92, 123). Depletion of cysteine markedly oxidizes intracellular GSH redox pool in human colonic epithelial cells in vitro (120). Chemical agents that alter glutathione levels markedly influence intestinal growth and function (118, 142). Buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) decreases GSH concentrations in blood and tissues by inhibition of the rate-limiting enzyme for GSH synthesis, γ -glutamyl cysteine ligase; BSO decreases jejunal GSH levels in association with villus atrophy, epithelial cell damage, and mitochondrial degeneration in mice (118). These effects are prevented by oral GSH or GSH monoethyl ester, each of which increases free intracellular GSH levels (118, 142).

GSH also appears to be important for gut barrier function because bacterial translocation from the gut and increased mortality occur when GSH is chemically depleted by diethyl maleate in rat models (142, 160). Of interest, dietary administration of either GSH itself or Gln increase GSH levels in plasma, gut mucosa, and other tissues in rodents (14, 79). We recently found that recombinant keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) in fasted/refed rats stimulated gut mucosal growth and prevented the decrease in small bowel and colonic GSH redox status (52, 92). Thus, administration of certain gut-trophic growth factors and specific dietary substrates for GSH synthesis is a potential strategy to improve gut mucosal GSH redox status.

INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE Intestinal inflammation, as occurs in Crohn disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis, is associated with increased gut mucosal production of ROS, peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and depletion of GSH in affected gut mucosa (30, 43, 154). In addition, plasma levels of several antioxidants, including vitamins A, C, and E, β -carotene, selenium, zinc, and GSH are decreased and indices of oxidative stress are increased in patients with IBD (1, 24, 30, 62, 100, 113, 123, 154, 156, 183). Such deficiencies may contribute to gut mucosal injury and impair mucosal restitution. Therefore, treatment with various dietary antioxidants has been proposed in the therapy of IBD (60, 114).

Antioxidant vitamins inhibit gut mucosal damage and improve healing in experimental IBD. For example, enteral administration of water-soluble vitamin E inhibited colonic mucosal injury and reduced mucosal lipid peroxidation in rats with experimental colitis (193). In a similar model, dietary supplementation with n-3 fatty acids plus vitamin E reduced colonic lipid peroxidation and increased colonic mucosal blood flow (152). In colitis induced by oral dextran sulfate, iron supplementation increased colonic inflammation, but this deleterious effect was ameliorated by vitamin E supplementation (36). In a recent clinical study in patients with Crohn disease, Geerling et al. found that dietary supplementation with n-3 fatty acids plus a combination of antioxidants (but not antioxidants alone) significantly improved plasma antioxidant status and resulted in a less proinflammatory plasma and adipose tissue pattern of eicosanoids (e.g., the

proportion of arachidonic acid decreased and the proportion of eicosapentanoic acid and docosahexanoic acid increased) (59).

Dietary bioflayonoids have been evaluated in experimental IBD. In an animal model of colitis, Sato et al. found that dietary catechins plus vitamin E consumed after induction of colitis reduced colonic damage, inhibited neutrophil infiltration into the colonic mucosa, decreased lipid peroxidation, and prevented the development of colonic adhesions (147). Another study found that after alcohol removal, the remaining red wine extract reduced cytokine-induced inflammatory cell infiltration in the jejunum of rats fed a zinc-deficient diet (34). Morin, a flavonoid found in figs, prevented colonic mucosal damage, reduced oxidant production, and decreased proinflammatory eicosanoid production in colitic rats (147). Lycopene administration decreased total inflammatory area and lipid peroxidation in the colon of rats with chemically induced colitis (140). In patients with both short bowel syndrome and/or IBD, blood vitamin E levels are commonly decreased; administration of water-soluble forms of this vitamin are an effective supplementation strategy (170). Although it is unclear whether dietary factors are involved in the pathogenesis of IBD, the available data strongly suggest adequate nutrition contributes to mucosal repair (114).

CRITICAL ILLNESS AND RADIATION/CHEMOTHERAPY Mucosal damage from intestinal ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) has been attributed to production of free radicals and oxidants, both from xanthine oxidase-dependent production of superoxide and activation of circulating and mucosal neutrophils. Supplemental vitamin C decreased small intestinal injury and mucosal production of lipid peroxide and glutathione disulfide in a rat model of gut I/R (73). In other models of splanchnic I/R injury, water-soluble vitamin E and vitamin C administration significantly inhibited increased vascular permeability, local xanthine oxidase production, and lipid peroxidation and increased plasma GSH characteristic of I/R (73). Several studies in rats subjected to abdominal radiation indicate that pretreatment with vitamin E alone or vitamin E in combination with vitamin C or selenium decreased indexes of gut mucosal damage, enhanced fluid absorptive capacity and decreased oxidative injury markers (37, 50, 53, 125). These studies in animal models provide evidence that I/R-induced damage to small bowel and colon may be potentially prevented or reversed by administration of certain nutrient antioxidants. Whether these beneficial effects occur in clinical settings is presently unknown.

VITAMIN A

Vitamin A and its analogues are key nutritional regulators of growth and differentiation of intestinal epithelial cells. Vitamin A deficiency decreases small bowel villus height and disaccharidase activity and worsens intestinal injury in experimental IBD in rats (182). As noted above, below-normal vitamin A levels in blood are common in patients with IBD and short bowel syndrome. During chemotherapy, rats with diet-induced vitamin A deficiency demonstrate increased

intestinal damage that is prevented by vitamin A repletion (182). Vitamin A supplementation also prevents some of the early side effects of radiation on the small intestine (20). This protective effect may partially result from vitamin A's ability to induce crypt cell differentiation, making these cells less susceptible to genomic damage (144). In addition, vitamin A has antioxidant properties that may reduce cellular sensitivity to radiation.

Vitamin A appears to regulate the early stages of intestinal adaptation following small bowel resection in rats by increasing crypt cell proliferation in the adapting intestine (180). Swartz-Basile et al. found that preexisting vitamin A depletion significantly inhibited the adaptive response of the small intestine to massive small bowel resection, while vitamin A repletion rapidly improved the adaptive response versus depleted rats (161). Several studies in developing countries suggest that repletion of vitamin A in vitamin A-deficient individuals decreases the risk of diarrhea and gut barrier dysfunction, supporting an important role for this nutrient in gut mucosal repair and function (48).

FATTY ACIDS AND PROSTAGLANDINS

Inflammatory Bowel Disease

The role of dietary lipid composition in IBD treatment has been the subject of much recent discussion (10, 19, 35, 58, 114). To date, much of the research on dietary lipid content in IBD has been conflicting, particularly with regard to enteral feeding. These mixed results have been attributed to a number of factors including type of disease (ulcerative colitis versus CD), disease activity, experimental design, choice of placebo [e.g., monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) or n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)], and the use of concurrent drug regimens (19).

A fish oil supplement providing 2.7 g/day n-3 fatty acids (eicosapentanoic acid and docosahexanoic acid) significantly increased one-year remission rates in patients with CD versus placebo-treated subjects (19). This effect possibly occurred through competition by n-3 fatty acids with n-6 fatty acids for incorporation into cell membranes, which experimentally decreases cellular production of proinflammatory fatty acid metabolites. To date, this beneficial response to dietary fish oil has not been reproduced in a larger randomized, controlled study in CD. Two small studies of dietary fish oil supplementation in patients with ulcerative colitis have produced conflicting results (7, 47).

In experimental animals, consumption of n-3 fatty acid supplements reduces blood levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and IL-1B (129). In a recent study in experimental rat colitis, Campos et al. found that parenteral lipid emulsions with higher n-3:n-6 ratios reduced diarrhea, mucosal inflammatory changes, and inflammatory eicosanoid concentrations (33). Likewise, Nieto et al. found that fish-oil-enriched diets decreased necrotic areas within colonic mucosa, increased goblet cell number and mucin production, and improved histological repair in rats with experimental colitis (129).

In a controlled, randomized, double-blind study of the effect of high (30%) versus low (5%) long-chain triglyceride diets on patients with active CD, Leiper et al. (112) found no differences between the low- and high-long-chain triglyceride diets on the CD remission rate. However, these diets contained other PUFAs; thus, the effects of different fatty acids such as MUFAs and fish oils cannot be ruled out. Gassull et al. (58) investigated diets enriched in MUFAs and PUFAs versus steroid treatment on remission rate in CD patients. After four weeks of treatment, remission rates were 27% for the high-MUFA diet, 63% for the high-PUFA diet, and 79% for steroid treatment. Thus, diet seemed to have an effect on CD remission rate; however, the high-MUFA diet, despite its potential anti-inflammatory effects, was not more effective at inducing remission of CD and may even have been detrimental (58). Medium-chain triglycerides (MCTs) contain fatty acids with 8-12 carbons, do not require packaging into chylomicrons for absorption, and are rapidly hydrolyzed and used for energy. One prospective, randomized, controlled study of enteral MCT supplementation in active CD found that this approach did not alter clinical remission in active CD (145). Thus, recommendations for ingestions of specific dietary lipid products in IBD cannot be made at this time in light of the still relatively limited and inconsistent data in this area.

Short Bowel Syndrome

Optimal diet composition, coupled with adequate micronutrient (e.g., zinc, vitamin A) and protein-energy intake and appropriate antidiarrheal medications, plays a critical role in ameliorating diarrhea and impaired digestion and absorption in SBS patients. Major principles that decrease diarrhea in many patients with SBS include use of small frequent feedings, avoidance of simple sugars, high intake of dietary fat and hypertonic liquids, avoidance of lactose, increased intake of complex carbohydrates [in part, to stimulate production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs)], and appropriate use of oral rehydration solutions (especially in patients without remnant colon) (32, 150). Traditionally, SBS patients are encouraged to follow a low-fat diet because of a reduction in lipid absorption and resultant steatorrhea, increased fluid loss, and weight loss (67). However, not all studies have shown a potential benefit of low-fat diets, especially in patients without a colon and in young children during the early period following massive bowel resection (158, 191). Furthermore, because low-fat diets may be less palatable, advising SBS patients to consume low-fat diets may decrease food consumption as well as predispose patients to essential fatty acid deficiency, especially in those without a colon in situ (84, 85).

In an animal model of SBS, Hart et al. (77) found that essential fatty acid (EFA)-deficient small bowel-resected rats experienced a significant decrease in adaptive intestinal mucosal hyperplasia compared to essential fatty acid-sufficient resected rats. Short-term refeeding (two weeks) with an EFA-sufficient diet allowed significant intestinal mucosal adaptation compared to resected rats remaining on the EFA-deficient diet. Thus, adequate EFA nutritional status may be necessary for

optimal intestinal adaptation following resection (77). In addition, the route of EFA administration appears to be important. Jeppensen et al. found that in patients with SBS, enteral linoleic and linolenic acids maintained plasma levels more effectively than an equal amount supplied parenterally (83).

Recently, it has been suggested that SBS patients consume increased amounts of medium-chain triglycerides (MCTs) (87, 159, 172). It is also known that MCTs are absorbed in the colon similar to the manner of SCFA absorption (143). Thus, substitution of MCT for LCFA may reduce fecal fat excretion and increase total caloric absorption; however, the efficacy of MCT substitution is dependent on the existence of a functioning colon (85, 86). Of note, in 75% of small bowel-resected rats, residual bowel adaptation and function were decreased with a high-MCT diet (175). Conversely, dietary supplementation with LCFAs in small bowel-resected rats improved residual bowel adaptation in a dose-dependent manner, particularly with increased n-3 fatty acids (101). Vanderhoof et al. also found that resected rats consuming fish oil had increased small bowel mucosal weight, DNA, and protein content compared to rats fed other fat sources (175). Increased dietary LCFAs, including fish oils and other n-3 fatty acids, may be important during the acute phase of SBS to allow optimal residual bowel adaptation, whereas during the maintenance phase increased consumption of MCTs may help to increase lipid absorption and caloric usage. New research in human SBS is needed to clarify the role of specific dietary lipid components for optimal gut adaptation and nutrient absorption.

Critical Illness/Radiation/Chemotherapy

In mice receiving chemotherapy, consumption of 3% or 6% fish oil diets ameliorated intestinal adverse effects compared to mice consuming 7% corn oil (75). Moreover, it was recently determined that dietary n-3 PUFAs in mice treated with chemotherapy decreased apoptotic crypt cells in the duodenum, which suggests that n-3 fatty acids may prevent the genomic DNA damage that causes apoptosis and loss of intestinal cells (76). In a study of endotoxin-induced intestinal ischemia in rats, Pscheidl et al. found that fish oil—supplemented parenteral diets improved killing of translocated bacteria and prevented a decrease in intestinal blood flow (136). Chavali et al. found a decrease in death rates and an increase in levels of IL-10 (an anti-inflammatory cytokine) in mice subjected to cecal ligation and puncture that were fed sesame oil as opposed to mixed oils in the diet (38).

DIETARY FIBER, SHORT-CHAIN FATTY ACIDS, AND PREBIOTICS

Dietary fiber is comprised principally of a variable mixture of nonstarch polysaccharides (NSPs), which are resistant to digestion in small bowel and reach the colon undigested. Dietary fiber has been classified into soluble and insoluble fiber, based on its solubility in aqueous solutions (48, 169). Most foods contain both soluble and insoluble components in varying ratios. Once in the colon, NSPs are hydrolyzed and fermented by colonic bacteria, producing the SCFAs butyrate, propionate, and acetate, together with carbon dioxide, methane, and hydrogen gases, thus yielding energy for microbial growth (48, 55, 169). The amount of SCFAs produced depends on the rate and extent of degradation of polysaccharides by bacteria and thus is a function of the type and amount of flora in the bowel lumen. In addition, the proportion of each SCFA produced varies among individuals and also depends on gender, age, and the type of polysaccharide ingested (169).

Resistant starch refers to all products from starch that escape small intestinal digestion due to chemical structure, cooking method, and mastication. An example is high-amylose maize starch, an amylase-resistant starch that has been used successfully to decrease cholera-induced diarrhea (137). Resistant starch appears to provide a significant contribution to the final SCFA production, especially in Western countries, but the resistant starch content of most foods has not been determined and precise values of intake in mixed meals are unknown. A significant number of persons cannot ferment resistant starch and the rates of SCFA production may be characteristic of the individual and not influenced by diet (169). Another source of SCFAs in the colon are oligosaccharides, such as fructo-oligosaccharides and inulin, which are prepared commercially or found in foods such as garlic, onion, artichoke, and asparagus. Oligosaccharides that resist digestion in the small bowel are completely fermented by colonic bacteria (166).

Intestinal and metabolic effects of dietary fiber, resistant starch, and frucotooligosaccharides from both preclinical and clinical studies are summarized in Table 5. SCFAs are taken up by colonocytes in a concentration-dependent manner, coupled to Na+ or K+ and H+ exchange, and absorption leads to increased sodium

TABLE 5 Intestinal and metabolic effects of dietary fiber, resistant starch, and/or frucoto-oligosaccharides observed in preclinical and clinical studies

- Delay in gastric emptying
- Slowed absorption of sugars, amino acids, bile acids, and drugs
- Reduced postprandrial hyperglycemia
- Reduced cholesterol levels in hyperlipidemia
- Altered calcium, iron, and magnesium absorption
- · Stool bulking and laxative effect
- Stimulation of intestinal mucosal cell growth and differentiation
- Protection against oxidative stress
- Maintenance of intestinal barrier function
- Antidiarrheal effect
- Energy provision via short-chain fatty acid generation by colon in short bowel syndrome
- Decrease in inflammatory or chemotherapy-induced colitis

and water transport (25). This effect is partially responsible for the antidiarrheal effect of soluble fibers and oligosaccharides (126, 171, 179). In addition, SCFAs may facilitate colonic absorption of calcium and magnesium (122, 163). Energy is also derived from the carbohydrate moiety of SCFAs; thus, undigested fiber or starch provides an important source of energy in patients with short bowel syndrome (84, 86, 88, 143).

SCFAs, especially butyrate, are preferred metabolic fuels for colonic epithelial cells and directly stimulate colonocyte proliferation and differentiation both in vitro and in vivo (81, 106). SCFAs also enhance mesenteric blood flow (108), decrease intestinal permeability (116), and stimulate intestinal mucosal expression of the enteroglucagon gene. Glucagon-like peptide-2, a product of the enteroglucagon gene, is a trophic peptide for gut epithelial cells (165). The systemic actions of SCFAs may underlie the stimulation of jejunal and ileal mucosal growth with intravenous administration of these fatty acids (81, 103, 165). Enteral administration of SCFAs, fiber, or oligosaccharide prevents gut barrier failure associated with parenteral nutrition in rodents (124). In rats treated with 5-fluorouracil, bacterial translocation was lower in rats fed with enteral nutrition plus fiber or chow than in rats fed with standard tube feeding formula (45). A pectin-supplemented elemental diet given via gastrostomy enhanced adaptive small intestinal growth following massive small bowel resection in rats (102).

In contrast to the trophic effect on normal gut mucosal epithelial cells, addition of butyrate to tumor cell lines causes cell proliferation arrest, differentiation, and apoptosis (117). The mechanism is caspase-dependent and involves signal transduction via the Fas-ligand death receptor (90). As cells become differentiated, they become more refractory to these effects of butyrate, perhaps secondary to the rapid use of butyrate for energy production. Butyrate and acetate also inhibit DNA oxidative damage in isolated rat colonic cells. Animal studies have shown that resistant starch and fructo-oligosaccharides may reduce the incidence of aberrant colonic crypt foci and increase the apoptoptic index (166). However, epidemiological and clinical evidence of a protective effect against colon cancer with high dietary fiber intake is still unclear. A low-fat, high-fiber diet or administration of wheat bran or oat bran supplementation did not reduce the recurrence of polyps or adenomas compared to maintaining a Western diet (5).

SCFAs have been shown to have anti-inflammatory roles on intestinal mucosa and have a potential role in the management of IBD (178). Butyrate administration and dietary supplementation with germinated barley foodstuffs, which are high in resistant starch, attenuated mucosal damage in chemically induced colitis and in rat models of spontaneous ulcerative colitis (11,96). Several mechanisms are implicated in the anti-inflammatory roles of SCFA, including inhibition of DNA-binding activity of nuclear factor kB (95,96). Additionally, butyrate may modify levels of interleukins involved in intestinal inflammation, including IL-8 (96) and IL-6 (121). Clinical trials of SCFA enemas or fiber supplementation in patients with IBD have overall shown little benefit, especially when compared to standard treatment (42). Vernia et al. observed a trend toward improvement in clinical,

endoscopic, and gut mucosal histological scores of patients with ulcerative colitis with administration of an oral butyrate preparation plus mesalazine compared to placebo plus mesalazine (177).

Administration of oligosaccharides such as inulin and oligofructose, resistant starch such as germinated barley, and other nondigestible food ingredients selectively stimulate growth and activity of certain species of bacteria in the colon. These agents are termed "prebiotics" (48). The mechanism of bacterial selection involves lowering of colonic pH and the production of metabolites that both inhibit growth of certain bacteria and simultaneously stimulate the growth of "protective" bacteria such as bifidobacteria and lactobacilli (48). The alteration in gut flora appears to improve the antidiarrheal effects of oligosaccharides (163). Limited data suggest that other potentially beneficial effects may be mediated by oligosaccharides in IBD, including maintenance of intestinal barrier function and decreased mucosal inflammation. The major disadvantage of consumption of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides in the clinical setting are symptoms such as abdominal pain, eructation, flatulence, and bloating due to luminal gas production (42). A number of clinical studies are now evaluating the clinical efficacy of these agents and their effect on bowel microflora. Studies on the effects of specific foods, dietary patterns, and intravenous feeding on gut flora are limited and more information in this area is needed (98).

ZINC

The trace element zinc is necessary for a variety of physiological and biochemical functions, including maintenance of intestinal barrier and gut-associated immune function, reduction of oxidative stress, and inhibition of apoptosis (22). The gastrointestinal tract is the major site for regulation of zinc homeostasis. When zinc intake decreases, an increase in the rate of zinc transport across the mucosal membrane occurs, mediated by a specific zinc carrier, which increases the efficiency of zinc absorption (40). With extremely low or with prolonged marginal zinc intake, secondary homeostatic events occur, including reduced urinary zinc excretion, increased plasma zinc turnover, and increased release from tissues such as bone (98).

There is increasing evidence that subclinical zinc deficiency is widespread, based on plasma zinc values and the prevalence of inadequate zinc intakes. When accounting for the decreased bioavailability of zinc by the presence of diet-derived inhibitors of absorption such as phytate, nearly half of the world's population is at risk of low zinc intakes (138). In the United States, suboptimal intake of dietary zinc has been observed in young children, adolescent females, and elderly persons. Deficiencies in zinc also accompany many Western diseases and conditions, such as gastrointestinal disorders, renal disease, sickle cell anemia, alcoholism, some types of cancers, AIDS, and burns (138).

Dietary zinc deficiency is associated with the development and maintenance of diarrhea through different mechanisms. Dietary zinc deficiency is usually associated with protein-calorie malnutrition, which alters the capacity to absorb zinc in small intestinal mucosa in animals (181) and causes generalized malabsorption due to mucosal atrophy. Prolonged zinc deficiency induces morphological atrophy of intestinal mucosa (176) and decreases the absorption of other nutrients such as water and electrolytes independently of food intake (63, 181). Finally, diarrhea induces further gastrointestinal losses of zinc, which, in turn, inhibits mucosal turnover, leading to further malabsorption of zinc and other nutrients (181). Multiple zinc supplementation trials in developing countries demonstrate that zinc supplementation reduces the duration and severity of diarrheal episodes (21, 205).

Zinc deficiency results in immunodepression that impairs defense against bacterial and parasitic infections (21, 138). Rodent models show that parasites develop more rapidly into adult worms and survive better in zinc-deficient hosts than in well-nourished hosts, with a graded response depending on the magnitude of the dietary zinc restriction (104). Zinc deficiency appears to be involved in impaired antigen presentation and function of T-cells in gut-associated lymphoid tissue and spleen (104).

Enhanced uroguanylin production by zinc deficiency has also been proposed as a possible mediator of diarrhea associated with low zinc status. Administration of a zinc-deficient diet to rats for 18 days resulted in upregulation of preprouroguanylin (22). Uroguanylin and guanylin are members of a family of natriuretic peptide hormones, produced as prepropeptides secreted into the gut lumen or bloodstream. Both activate a guanylate cyclase-C receptor initiating a cGMP cascade that results in stimulation of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator, which increases the transport of chloride and water into the intestinal lumen (22). Upregulation of uroguanylin during zinc deficiency could increase chloride and water secretion in the intestine, resulting in secretory diarrhea. Other possible effects of zinc in the protection of gastrointestinal mucosa include its role as a free radical scavenger, either as an intrinsic constituent of superoxide dismutase or via prevention of disulfide formation that triggers formation of free radicals (41, 181).

SUMMARY

The gut mucosa turns over more rapidly than most other tissues in the body and plays a key role in barrier defense in addition to nutrient digestion, absorption, and metabolism. The dynamic processes of intestinal epithelial cell proliferation, migration, and apoptosis are highly affected by general nutritional status, route of feeding, and adequacy of specific nutrients in the diet. This research has defined potential therapeutic roles for specific nutrients and diet-derived compounds for gut adaptation, barrier function, and mucosal repair, including arginine, glutamine, glutathione, vitamin A, zinc, and specific lipids such as fish oil. Emerging studies are defining the role of specific nutrients as trophic and cytoprotective agents and their interaction with endogenous and exogenous growth factors in the intestine. The role and regulation of the endogenous bowel flora in generation of

short-chain fatty acids from diet-derived fiber and other compounds and the effects of these products on gut function are increasingly being elucidated. Results of these investigations should enable development of new nutritional methods to support the intestine in conditions such as short bowel syndrome, malnutrition, and inflammatory bowel disease.

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at http://nutr.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Aghdassi E, Allard JP. 2000. Breath alkanes as a marker of oxidative stress in different clinical conditions. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 28:880–86
- Ahdieh N, Blikslager AT, Bhat BG, Coleman RA, Argenzio RA, Rhoads JM.
 L-glutamine and transforming growth factor-alpha enhance recovery of monoacylglycerol acyltransferase and diacylglycerol acyltransferase activity in porcine postischemic ileum. *Pediatr. Res.* 43:227–33
- Akisu M, Ozmen D, Baka M, Habif S, Yalaz M, et al. 2002. Protective effect of dietary supplementation with Larginine and L-carnitine on hypoxia/ reoxygenation-induced necrotizing enterocolitis in young mice. *Biol. Neonate* 81:260–65
- Akobeng AK, Miller V, Stanton J, Elbadra AM, Thomas AG. 2000. Doubleblind randomized controlled trial of glutamine-enriched polymeric diet in the treatment of active Crohn's disease. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 30:78–84
- Alberts DS, Martinez ME, Roe DJ, Guillen-Rodriguez JM, Marshal JR, et al. 2000. Lack of effect of a high-fiber cereal supplement on the recurrence of colorectal adenomas. N. Engl. J. Med. 342:1156–62
- Alican I, Kubes P. 1996. A critical role for nitric oxide in intestinal barrier function and dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. 265:G225–37
- Almallah YZ, Ewen SW, El-Tahir A, Mowat NA, Brunt PW, et al. 2000. Dis-

- tal proctocolitis and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFAs): the mucosal effect in situ. *J. Clin. Immunol.* 20:68–76
- Ameho CK, Adjel AA, Harrison EK, Takeshita K, Morioka T, et al. 1997. Prophylactic effect of dietary glutamine supplementation in interleukin 8 and tumour necrosis factor alpha production in trinitrobenezenesulfonic acid induced colitis. Gut 41:487–93
- Amin HJ, Zamora SA, McMillan DD, Fick GH, Butzner JD, et al. 2002. Arginine supplementation prevents necrotizing enterocolitis in the premature infant. *J. Pediatr.* 140:425–31
- Andoh A, Bamba T, Sasaki M. 1999. Physiological and anti-inflammatory roles of dietary fiber and butyrate in intestinal functions. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 23:70–73S
- Araki Y, Andoh A, Koyama S, Fujiyama Y, Kanauchi O, Bamba T. 2000. Effects of germinated barley foodstuff on microflora and short chain fatty acid production in dextran sulfate sodiuminduced colitis in rats. *Biosci. Biotech*nol. *Biochem.* 64:1794–800
- 12. Deleted in proof
- Arndt H, Kullmann F, Reuss F, Scholmerich J, Palitzsch KD. 1999. Glutamine attenuates leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion in indomethacin-induced intestinal inflammation in the rat. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 23:12–18
- 14. Aw TY, Wierzbicka G, Jones DP. 1991. Oral glutathione increases tissue

- glutathione in vivo. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 80:89–97
- Aw TY. 1999. Molecular and cellular responses to oxidative stress and changes in oxidation-reduction imbalance in the intestine. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 70:557–65
- Bai C, Jones DP. 1996. GSH transport and GSH-dependent detoxication in small intestine of rats exposed in vivo to hypoxia. Am. J. Physiol. 271:G701–6
- Beale RJ, Bryg DJ, Bihari DJ. 1999. Immunonutrition in the critically ill: a systematic review of clinical outcome. *Crit. Care Med.* 27:2799–805
- Becker RM, Wu G, Galanko JA, Chen W, Maynor AR, et al. 2000. Reduced serum amino acid concentrations in infants with necrotizing enterocolitis. *J. Pediatr.* 137:785–89
- Belluzzi A, Brignola C, Campieri M, Pera A, Boschi S. 1996. Effect of an enteric-coated fish-oil preparation on relapses in Crohn's disease. *New Engl. J. Med.* 334:1557–60
- Beyzadeoglu M, Balkan M, Demiriz M, Tibet H, Dirican B, et al. 1997. Protective effect of vitamin A on acute radiation injury in the small intestine. *Radiat. Med.* 15:1–5
- Bhutta ZA, Bird SM, Black RE, Brown KH, Gardner JM, et al. 2000. Therapeutic effects of oral zinc in acute and persistent diarrhea in children in developing countries: pooled analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 72:1516–22
- Blanchard RK, Moore JB, Green CL, Cousins RJ. 2001. Modulation of intestinal gene expression by dietary zinc status: effectiveness of cDNA arrays for expression profiling of a single nutrient deficiency. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:13507–13
- Booth C, Potten CS. 2000. Gut instincts: thoughts on intestinal epithelial stem cells. J. Clin. Invest. 105:1493–99
- Bousvaros A, Zurakowski D, Duggan C, Law T, Rifai N, et al. 1998. Vitamins A

- and E serum levels in children and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease: effect of disease activity. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* 26:129–34
- Bowling TE, Raimundo AH, Grimble GK, Silk DB. 1993. Reversal by shortchain fatty acids of colonic fluid secretion induced by enteral feeding. *Lancet* 342:1266–68
- Boza JJ, Moennoz D, Vuichoud J, Jarret AR, Gaudard-de-Weck D, et al. 1999.
 Food deprivation and refeeding influence growth, nutrient retention and functional recovery of rats. J. Nutr. 129:1340–46
- Braga M, Gianotti L, Nespoli L, Radaelli G, Di Carlo V. 2002. Nutritional approach in malnourished surgical patients: a prospective randomized study. *Arch. Surg.* 137:174–80
- Brzozowski T, Konturek SJ, Sliwowski Z, Drozdowicz D, Zaczek M, Kedra D. 1997. Role of L-arginine, a substrate for nitric oxide-synthase in gastroprotection and ulcer healing. *J. Gastroenterol*. 32:442–52
- Buchman AL, Moukarzel AA, Bhuta S, Belle M, Ament ME, et al. 1995. Parenteral nutrition is associated with intestinal morphologic and functional changes in humans. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 19:453–60
- Buffinton GD, Doe WF. 1995. Depleted mucosal antioxidant defences in inflammatory bowel disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 19:911–18
- 31. Byrne TA, Morrissey TB, Nattakom TV, Ziegler TR, Wilmore DW. 1995. Growth hormone, glutamine and a modified diet enhance nutrient absorption in patients with the severe short bowel syndrome. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 19:296–302
- Byrne TA, Persinger RL, Young LS, Ziegler TR, Wilmore DW. 1995. A new treatment for patients with the shortbowel syndrome: growth hormone, glutamine and a modified diet. *Ann. Surg.* 222:243–55
- 33. Campos FG, Waitzberg DL, Habr-Gama

- A, Logullo AF, Noronha JL, et al. 2002. Impact of parenteral n-3 fatty acids on experimental acute colitis. *Br. J. Nutr.* 87:S83–88
- 34. Canali R, Vignolini F, Nobili F, Mengheri E. 2000. Reduction of oxidative stress and cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CNC) expression by red wine polyphenols in zinc deficiency induced intestinal damage of rat. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 28:1661–70
- Caplan MS, Jilling T. 2001. The role of polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in intestinal inflammation and neonatal necrotizing enterocolitis. *Lipids* 36:1053–57
- Carrier J, Aghdassi E, Cullen J, Allard JP. 2002. Iron supplementation increases disease activity and vitamin E ameliorates the effect in rats with dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *J. Nutr.* 132:3146–50
- Carroll MP, Zera RT, Roberts JC, Schlafmann SE, Feeney DA, et al. 1995. Efficacy of radioprotective agents in preventing small and large bowel radiation injury. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 38:716–22
- Chavali S, Utsunomiya T, Forse RA. 2001. Increased survival after cecal ligation and puncture in mice consuming diets enriched with sesame oil. *Crit. Care Med.* 29:140–43
- Chun H, Sasaki M, Fujiyama Y, Bamba T. 1997. Effect of enteral glutamine on intestinal permeability and bacterial translocation after abdominal radiation injury in rats. *J. Gastroenterol.* 32:189– 95
- Cousins RJ. 1999. Nutritional regulation of gene expression. Am. J. Med. 106:20– 23S
- 41. Cui L, Okada A. 2000. Nitric oxide and manifestations of lesions of skin and gastrointestinal tract in zinc deficiency. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 3:247–52
- 42. Cummings JH. 1998. Dietary carbohydrates and the colonic microflora. *Curr.*

- Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 1:409–
- D'Odorico A, Bortolan S, Cardin R, D'Inca R, Martines D, et al. 2001. Reduced plasma antioxidant concentrations and increased oxidative DNA damage in inflammatory bowel disease. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 36:1289–94
- 44. Den Hond E, Hiele M, Peeters M, Ghoos Y, Rutgeerts P. 1999. Effect of long-term oral glutamine supplements on small intestinal permeability in patients with Crohn's disease. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 23:7–11
- Deng GY, Liu YW, He GZ, Jiang ZM. 1999. Effect of dietary fiber on intestinal barrier function of 5-FU stressed rats. *Res. Exp. Med.* 199:111–19
- Di Lorenzo M, Bas J, Krantis A. 1995.
 Use of L-arginine in the treatment of experimental necrotizing enterocolitis. *J. Pediatr. Surg.* 30:235–41
- Dichi I, Frenhane P, Dichi JB, Correa CR, Angeleli AY. 2000. Comparison of omega-3 fatty acids and sulfasalazine in ulcerative colitis. *Nutrition* 16:87–90
- Duggan C, Gannon J, Walker WA. 2002. Protective nutrients and functional foods for the gastrointestinal tract. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 75:789–808
- Efron DT, Barbul A. 1998. Modulation of inflammation and immunity by arginine supplements. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 1:531–38
- Empey LR, Papp JD, Jewell LD, Fedorak RN. 1992. Mucosal protective effects of vitamin E and misoprostol during acute radiation-induced enteritis in rats. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 37:205–14
- Ersin S, Tuncyurek P, Esassolak M, Alkanat M, Buke C, et al. 2000. The prophylactic and therapeutic effects of glutamine- and arginine-enriched diets on radiation-induced enteritis in rats. *J.* Surg. Res. 89:121–25
- 52. Estivariz CF, Jonas CR, Gu LH, Diaz EE, Wallace TM, et al. 1998. Gut trophic effects of keratinocyte growth factor in

- rat small intestine and colon during enteral refeeding. *J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 22:1–9
- Felemovicius I, Bonsack ME, Baptista ML, Delaney JP. 1995. Intestinal radioprotection by vitamin E (alphatocopherol). *Ann. Surg.* 222:504–8
- 54. Fernandez-Estívariz C, Gu LH, Gu L, Jonas CR, Wallace TM, et al. 2003. Trefoil peptide expression and goblet cell number in rat intestine: effects of KGF and fasting/refeeding. Am. J. Physiol. 284:R564–73
- Field CJ, McBurney MI, Massimino S, Hayek MG, Sunvold GD. 1999. The fermentable fiber content of the diet alters the function and composition of canine gut associated lymphoid tissue. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 72:325–41
- 56. Foitzik T, Kruschewski M, Kroesen AJ, Hotz HG, Eibl G, Buhr JH. 1999. Does glutamine reduce bacterial translocation? A study in two animal models with impaired gut barrier. *Int. J. Colorectal Dis.* 14:143–49
- Fujita T, Sakurai K. 1995. Efficacy of glutamine-enriched enteral nutrition in an experimental model of mucosal ulcerative colitis. *Br. J. Surg.* 82:749–51
- 58. Gassull MA, Fernandez-Bānares F, Cabre E, Papo M, Giaffer MH, et al. 2002. Fat composition may be a clue to explain the primary therapeutic effect of enteral nutrition in Crohn disease: results of a double-blind randomised multicentre European trial. *Gut* 51:164–68
- 59. Geerling BJ, Badart-Smook A, van Deursen C, van Houwelingen AC, Russel MG, et al. 2000. Nutritional supplementation with N-3 fatty acids and antioxidants in patients with Crohn's disease in remission: effects on antioxidant status and fatty acid profile. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 6:77–84
- Geerling BJ, Houwelingen AC, Badart-Smook A, Stockbrugger RW, Brummer RJ. 1999. The relation between antioxidant status and alterations in fatty acid

- profile in patients with Crohn disease and controls. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 34:1108–16
- Gennari R, Alexander JW. 1997. Arginine, glutamine, and dehydroepiandrosterone reverse the immunosuppressive effect of prednisone during gut-derived sepsis. Crit. Care Med. 25:1207–14
- Genser D, Kang MH, Vogelsang H, Elmadfa I. 1999. Status of lipid soluble antioxidants and TRAP in patients with Crohn's disease and healthy controls. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 53:675–79
- Ghishan FK. 1984. Transport of electrolytes, water and glucose in zinc deficiency. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* 3:608–12
- 64. Gianotti L, Braga M, Nespoli L, Radaelli G, Beneduce A, et al. 2002. A randomized controlled trial of preoperative oral supplementation with a specialized diet in patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *Gastroenterology* 122:1763–70
- 65. Gianotti L, Alexander JW, Payles T, Fukushima R. 1993. Arginine-supplemented diets improve survival in gut-derived sepsis and peritonitis by modulating bacterial clearance—the role of nitric oxide. Ann. Surg. 217:644–54
- 66. Goeters C, Wenn A, Mertes N, Wempe C, Van Aken H, et al. 2002. Parenteral L-alanyl-L-glutamine improves 6-month outcome in critically ill patients. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:2032–37
- Goulet O. 1997. Lipid requirements in infants with digestive diseases with references to short bowel syndrome. Eur. J. Med. Res. 2:79–83
- 68. Gouttebel M, Astre C, Briand D, Saoint-Aubert B, Girardot P, Joyeurx H. 1992. Influence of N-acetylglutamine or glutamine infusion on plasma amino acid concentration during the early phase of small-bowel adaptation in the dog. *J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 16:117–21
- Griffiths RD, Jones C, Palmer TE.
 1997. Six-month outcome of critically ill patients given glutamine-supplemented

- parenteral nutrition. *Nutrition* 13:295–302
- Grotz MR, Pape HC, van Griensven M, Stalp M, Rohde F, et al. 2001. Glycine reduces the inflammatory response and organ damage in a two-hit sepsis model in rats. Shock 16:116–21
- Gu L, Gu LH, Jones DP, Nisar A, Pascal RR, et al. 2001. Regulation of glutathione redox status in adapting ileal mucosa after massive small bowel resection in rats. Gastroenterology 120(Suppl):A217 (Abstr.)
- Gu Y, Wu Z. 2002. The anabolic effects of recombinant human growth hormone and glutamine on parenterally fed, short bowel rats. World J. Gastroenterol. 8:752–57
- Gunel E, Caglayan F, Caglayan O, Dilsiz A, Duman S, Aktan M. 1998. Treatment of intestinal reperfusion injury using antioxidative agents. *J. Pediatr. Surg.* 33:1536–39
- Guslandi M. 1998. Nitric oxide in inflammatory bowel disease. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 28:904–7
- Hardman WE, Moyer MP, Cameron IL.
 1999. Fish oil supplementation enhanced CPT-11 (irinotecan) efficacy against MCF7 breast carcinoma xenografts and ameliorated intestinal side-effects. Br. J. Cancer 81:4404–48
- Hardman WE, Moyer MP, Cameron IL.
 2002. Consumption of an omega-3 fatty acid product, INCELL AAFA, reduced side-effects of CPT-11 (irinotecan) in mice. Br. J. Cancer 86:983–88
- Hart ML, Grandjean CJ, Park JH, Erdman SH, Vanderhoof JA. 1988. Essential fatty acid deficiency and postresection mucosal adaptation in the rat. Gastroenterology 94:682–87
- 77a. Hasebe M, Suzuki H, Mori E, Furukawa J, Kobayashi K, et al. 1999. Glutamate in enteral nutrition: Can glutamate replace glutamine in supplementation to enteral nutrition in burned rats? *J. Parent. Enteral Nutr.* 23:S78–82

- Heyland DK, Novak F, Drover JW, Jain M, Su X, Suchner U. 2001. Should immunonutrition become routine in critically ill patients? A systematic review of the evidence. *JAMA* 286:944–53
- Hong RW, Rounds JD, Helton WS, Robinson MK, Wilmore DW. 1992. Glutamine preserves liver glutathione after lethal hepatic injury. *Ann. Surg.* 215:114–19
- Houdijk AP, Rijnsburger ER, Jansen J, Wesdorp RI, Weiss JK, et al. 1998. Randomized trial of glutamine-enriched enteral nutrition on infectious morbidity in patients with multiple trauma. *Lancet* 352:7772–76
- Ichikawa H, Shineha R, Satomi S, Sakata T. 2002. Gastric or rectal instillation of short-chain fatty acids stimulates epithelial cell proliferation of small and large intestine in rats. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 47:1141– 46
- Jensen JC, Schaefer R, Nwokedi E, Bevans DW, Baker ML, et al. 1994. Prevention of chronic radiation enteropathy by dietary glutamine. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 1:157–63
- Jeppesen PB, Hoy CE, Mortensen PB. 2001. Differences in essential fatty acid requirements by enteral and parenteral routes of administration in patients with fat malabsorption. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 70:78–84
- 84. Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 1998. Significance of a preserved colon for parenteral energy requirements in patients receiving home parenteral nutrition. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 33:1175–79
- 85. Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 1998. The influence of a preserved colon on the absorption of medium chain fat in patients with small bowel resection. *Gut* 43:478– 83
- 86. Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 1999. Colonic digestion and absorption of energy from carbohydrates and medium-chain fat in small bowel failure. *Parent. Enteral Nutr.* 23(5 Suppl):S101–5

- Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 2000. Intestinal failure defined by measurements of intestinal energy and wet weight absorption. *Gut* 46:701–6
- Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 2002. Enhancing bowel adaptation in short bowel syndrome. *Curr. Gastroenterol. Rep.* 4:338–47
- Jeschke MG, Debroy MA, Wolf SE, Rajaraman S, Thompson JC. 2000. Burn and starvation increase programmed cell death in small bowel epithelial cells. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 45:415–20
- Johnson IT. 2002. Anticarcinogenic effects of diet-related apoptosis in the colorectal mucosa. Food Chem. Toxicol. 40:1171–78
- Johnson LR. 1988. Regulation of gastrointestinal mucosal growth. *Physiol. Rev.* 68:456–502
- Jonas CR, Estívariz CF, Jones DP, Gu LH, Wallace TM, et al. 1999. Keratinocyte growth factor enhances glutathione redox state in rat intestinal mucosa during nutritional repletion. J. Nutr. 127:1278–84
- Jones C, Palmer TE, Griffiths RD. 1999.
 Randomized clinical outcome study of critically ill patients given glutamine-supplemented enteral nutrition. *Nutrition* 15:108–15
- Jones DP. 2002. Redox state of GSH/GSSG couple: assay and biological significance. *Meth. Enzymol.* 348:93– 112
- 95. Kanauchi O, Andoh A, Iwanaga T, Fujiyama Y, Mitsuyama K, et al. 1999. Germinated barley foodstuffs attenuate colonic mucosal damage and mucosal nuclear factor kappa B activity in a spontaneous colitis model. *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 14:1173–79
- 96. Kanauchi O, Iwanaga T, Andoh A, Araki Y, Nakamura T, et al. 2001. Dietary fiber fraction of germinated barley foodstuff attenuated mucosal damage and diarrhea, and accelerated the repair of the colonic mucosa in an experimental col-

- itis. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 16:160-68
- Kaya E, Gur ES, Ozguc H, Bayer A, Tokyay R. 1999. L-glutamine enemas attenuate mucosal injury in experimental colitis. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 42:1209–15
- King JC, Shames DM, Woodhouse LR. Zinc homeostasis in humans. 2000. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 130:1360–66S
- Ko TC, Beauchamp RD, Townsend CM, Thompson JC. 1993. Glutamine is essential for epidermal growth factorstimulated intestinal cell proliferation. Surgery 114:147–54
- 100. Koch TR, Yuan LX, Stryker SJ, Ratliff P, Telford GL, Opara EC. 2000. Total antioxidant capacity of colon in patients with chronic ulcerative colitis. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 45:1814–19
- Kollman KA, Lien EL, Vanderhoof JA.
 1999. Dietary lipids influence intestinal adaptation after massive bowel resection.
 J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 28:41–45
- 102. Koruda MJ, Rolandelli RH, Settle RG, Saul SH, Rombeau JL. 1986. The effect of a pectin-supplemented elemental diet on intestinal adaptation to massive small bowel resection. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 10:343–50
- 103. Koruda MJ, Rolandelli RH, Zimmaro-Bliss D, Hastings J, Settle RG. 1990. Parenteral nutrition supplemented with SCFA: effect on the small bowel mucosa in normal rats. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 51:685–89
- 104. Koski KG, Scott ME. 2001. Gastrointestinal nematodes, nutrition and immunity: breaking the negative spiral. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 21:297–321
- 105. Kozar RA, Schultz SG, Hassoun HT, Desoignie R, Weisbrodt NW, et al. 2002. The type of sodium-coupled solute modulates small bowel mucosal injury, transport function and ATP after ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Gastroenterology 123:810–16
- 106. Kripke SA, Fox AD, Beran JM, Settle RG, Rombearu JL. 1989. Stimulation of

- intestinal mucosal growth with intracolonic infusion of short chain fatty acids. J. Parent. Enteral Nutr. 13:109–16
- Kubes P, McCafferty DM. 2000. Nitric oxide and intestinal inflammation. Am. J. Med. 109:150–58
- 108. Kvietys PR, Granger DN. 1981. Effect of volatile fatty acids on blood flow and oxygen uptake by the dog colon. *Gastroenterology* 80:962–69
- Labow BI, Souba WW. 2000. Glutamine. World J. Surg. 24:1503–13
- 110. Lacey J, Crouch S, Benfell K, Ringer SA, Wilmore CK, et al. 1996. Glutamine supplemented parenteral nutrition is associated with improved outcome in preterm infants. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 20:74– 80
- 111. Lee MA, McCauley RD, Kong SE, Hall JC. 2002. Influence of glycine on intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 26:130–35
- 112. Leiper K, Woolner J, Mullan MMC, Parker T, van der Vliet M, et al. 2001. A randomised controlled trial of high versus low long chain triglyceride whole protein feed in active Crohn's disease. Gut 49:790–94
- 113. Levy E, Rizwan Y, Thibault L, Lepage G, Brunet S, et al. 2000. Altered lipid profile, lipoprotein composition, and oxidant and antioxidant status in pediatric Crohn disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 71:807– 15
- Ling SC, Griffiths AM. 2000. Nutrition in inflammatory bowel disease. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care. 3:339–44
- 115. Ma Q, Williamson KE, O'Rourke D, Rowlands BJ. 1999. The effects of Larginine on crypt cell hyperproliferation in colorectal cancer. J. Surg. Res. 81:181–88
- 116. Mariadason JM, Kilias D, Catto-Smith A, Gibson PR. 1999. Effect of butyrate on paracellular permeability in rat distal colonic mucosa ex vivo. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 14:873–79
- 117. Mariadason JM, Velcich A, Wilson AJ,

- Augenlicht LH, Gibson PR. 2001. Resistance to butyrate-induced cell differentiation and apoptosis during spontaneous Caco-2 cell differentiation. *Gastroenterology* 120:889–99
- 118. Martensson J, Jain A, Meister A. 1989. Glutathione is required for intestinal function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 87:1715–19
- 119. Michail S, Mohammadpour H, Park JH, Vanderhoof JA. 1995. Effect of glutamine-supplemented elemental diet on mucosal adaptation following bowel resection in rats. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 21:394–98
- 120. Miller LT, Watson WH, Kirlin WG, Ziegler TR, Jones DP. 2002. Oxidation of the glutathione/glutathione disulfide redox state is induced by cysteine deficiency in human colon carcinoma HT29 cells. J. Nutr. 132:2303–6
- 121. Milo LA, Reardon KA, Tappenden KA. 2002. Effects of short-chain fatty acidsupplemented total parenteral nutrition on intestinal pro-inflammatory cytokine abundance. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 47:2049–55
- 122. Mineo H, Hara H, Tomita F. 2001. Short-chain fatty acids enhance diffusional calcium transport in the epithelium of the rat cecum and colon. *Life Sci.* 69:517–26
- 123. Miralles-Barrachina O, Savoye G, Belmonte-Zalar L, Hochain P, Ducrotte P, et al. 1999. Low levels of glutathione in endoscopic biopsies of patients with Crohn's colitis: the role of malnutrition. *Clin. Nutr.* 18:313–17
- 124. Mosenthal AC, Xu D, Deitch EA. 2002. Elemental and intravenous total parenteral nutrition diet-induced gut barrier failure is intestinal site specific and can be prevented by feeding nonfermentable fiber. Crit. Care Med. 30:396–402
- 125. Mutlu-Turkoglu U, Erbil Y, Oztezcan S, Olgac V, Toker G, Uysai M. 2000. The effect of selenium and/or vitamin E treatments on radiation-induced intestinal injury in rats. *Life. Sci.* 66:1905–13
- 126. Nakao M, Ogura Y, Satake S, Ito I, Iguchi

- A, et al. 2002. Usefulness of soluble dietary fiber for the treatment of diarrhea during enteral nutrition in elderly patients. *Nutrition* 18:35–39
- Nalini S, Ibrahim SA, Balasubramanian KA. 1993. Effect of oxidant exposure on monkey intestinal brush-border membrane. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1147: 169–76
- 128. Neu J, Roig JC, Meetze WH, Veerman M, Carter C, et al. 1997. Enteral glutamine supplementation for very low birth weight infants decreases morbidity. J. Pediatr. 131:691–99
- 129. Nieto N, Torres MI, Rios A, Gil A. 2002. Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids improve histological and biochemical alterations in rats with experimental ulcerative colitis. J. Nutr. 132:11–19
- 130. Nkabyo YS, Ziegler TR, Gu LH, Jones DP. 2002. Glutathione and thioredoxin redox during differentiation in human colon epithelial (Caco-2) cells. Am. J. Physiol. 283:G1352–59
- 131. Novak F, Heyland DK, Avenell A, Drover JW, Su X. 2002. Glutamine supplementation in serious illness: a systematic review of the evidence. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:2022–29
- 132. Peterson JW, Boldogh I, Popov VL, Saini SS, Chopra AK. 1998. Antiinflammatory and anti-secretory potential of histidine in Salmonellachallenged mouse small intestine. *Lab. Invest.* 78:523–34
- 133. Pierro A, Van Saene HK, Donnel SC, Hughes J, Ewan C, et al. 1996. Microbial translocation in neonates and infants receiving long-term parenteral nutrition. *Arch. Surg.* 131:176–79
- 134. Pironi L, Paganelli GM, Miglioli M, Biasco G, Santucci R, et al. 1994. Morphologic and cytoproliferative patterns of duodenal mucosa in two patients after long-term total parenteral nutrition: changes with oral refeeding and relation to intestinal resection. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 18:351–54

- 135. Potten CS. 1992. The significance of spontaneous and induced apoptosis in the gastrointestinal tract of mice. *Canc. Metast. Rev.* 11:179–95
- 136. Pscheidl E, Schywalsky M, Tschaikowsky K, Boke-Prols T. 2000. Fish oilsupplemented parenteral diets normalize splanchnic blood flow and improve killing of translocated bacteria in a lowdose endotoxin rat model. Crit. Care. Med. 28:1489–96
- 137. Ramakrishna BS, Venkataraman S, Srinivasan P, Dash P, Young GP, et al. 2000. Amylase-resistant starch plus oral rehydration solution for cholera. N. Engl. J. Med. 342:308–13
- Ramakrishnan U. 2002. Prevalence of micronutrient malnutrition worldwide. Nutr. Rev. 60:46–52S
- Rampal P. 2000. Total artificial nutrition is associated with major changes in the fecal flora. Eur. J. Nutr. 39:248–55
- 139a. Reeds PJ, Burrin DG, Jahoor F, Wykes L, Henry J, et al. 1996. Enteral glutamate is almost completely metabolized in first pass by the gastrointestinal tract of infant pigs. Am. J. Physiol. 270:E413–18
- 139b. Reeds PJ, Burrin DG, Stoll B, Jahoor F, Wykes L, et al. 1997. Enteral glutamate is the preferential source for mucosal glutathione synthesis in fed piglets. *Am. J. Physiol.* 273:E408–15
- 139c. Reeds PJ, Burrin DG, Stoll B, Jahoor F. 2000. Intestinal glutamate metabolism. *J. Nutr.* 130:978–82S
- 140. Reifen R, Nur T, Matas Z, Halpern A. 2001. Lycopene supplementation attenuates the inflammatory status of colitis in a rat model. *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.* 71:347–51
- Rhoden D, Matheson PJ, Carricato ND, Spain DA, Garrison RN. 2002. Immuneenhancing enteral diet selectively augments ileal blood flow in the rat. *J. Surg. Res.* 106:25–30
- 142. Robinson MK, Ahn MS, Rounds JD, Jacobs DO, Wilmore DW. 1992. Parenteral glutathione monoester enhances tissue

- antioxidant stores. *J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 16:413–18
- 143. Royall D, Wolever TMS, Jeejeebhoy KN. 1992. Evidence for colonic conservation of malabsorbed carbohydrate in short bowel syndrome. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 87:751–56
- 144. Ruifrok AC, Mason KA, Thames HD. 1996. Changes in clongen number and radiation sensitivity in mouse jejunal crypts after treatment with dimethylsulfoxide and retinoic acid. *Radiat. Res.* 145:740–45
- 145. Sakurai T, Matsui T, Yao T, Takagi Y, Hirai F, et al. 2002. Short-term efficacy of enteral nutrition in the treatment of active Crohn's disease: a randomized, controlled trial comparing nutrient formulas. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 26:98–103
- 146. Sarac TP, Souba WW, Miller JH, Ryan CK, Koch M, et al. 1994. Starvation induces differential small bowel luminal amino acid transport. Surgery 116:679–86
- 147. Sato K, Kanazawa A, Ota N, Nakamura T, Fujimoto K. 1998. Dietary supplementation of catechins and alphatocopherol accelerates the healing of trinitrobenezene sulfonic acid-induced ulcerative colitis in rats. J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. 44:769–78
- 148. Scheppach W, Loges C, Bartram P, Christl SU, Richter F, et al. 1994. Effect of free glutamine and alanyl-glutamine dipeptide on mucosal proliferation of the human ileum and colon. *Gastroenterol*ogy 107:429–34
- 149. Scolapio JS, Camilleri M, Fleming CR, Oenning LV, Burton DD, Sebo TJ. 1997. Effect of growth hormone, lutamine, and diet on adaptation in short-bowel syndrome: a randomized, controlled study. Gastroenterology 113:1074–81
- Scolapio JS, McGreevy K, Tennyson GS, Burnett OL. 2001. Effect of glutamine in short bowel syndrome. *Clin. Nutr.* 20:319–23
- 151. Shi HP, Efron DT, Most D, Tantry US,

- Barbul A. 2000. Supplemental dietary arginine enhances wound healing in normal but not inducible nitric oxide synthase knockout mice. *Surgery* 128:374–78
- 152. Shimizu T, Igarashi J, Ohtuka S, Oguchi S, Kaneko K, Yamashiro Y. 2001. Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E on colonic mucosal leukotriene generation, lipid peroxidation, and microcirculation in rats with experimental colitis. *Digestion* 63:49–54
- 153. Shinozaki M, Saito H, Muto T. 1997. Excess glutamine exacerbates trinitrobenezenesulfonic acid-induced colitis in rats. Dis. Colon Rectum 40:S59–63
- 154. Sido B, Hack V, Hochlehnert A, Lipps H, Herfarth C, Droge W. 1998. Impairment of intestinal glutathione synthesis in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 42:485–92
- 155. Soeters PB, Hallemeesch MM, Bruins MJ, van Eijk HM, Deutz NE. 2002. Quantitative in vivo assessment of arginine utilization and nitric oxide production in endotoxemia. Am. J. Surg. 183:480–88
- 156. Sturniolo GC, Mestriner C, Lecis PE, D'Odorico A, Venturi C, et al. 1998. Altered plasma and mucosal concentrations of trace elements and antioxidants in active ulcerative colitis. Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 33:644–49
- Suchner U, Heyland DK, Peter K. 2002.
 Immune-modulatory actions of arginine in the critically ill. *Br. J. Nutr.* 87:S121–32
- 158. Sukhotnik I, Gork AS, Chen M, Drongowski RA, Coran AG, Harmon CM. 2001. Effect of low fat diet on lipid absorption and fatty acid transport following bowel resection. *Pediatr. Surg. Int.* 17:259–64
- Sundaram A, Koutkia P, Apovian C.
 2002. Nutritional management of short bowel syndrome . J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 34:207–20
- 160. Suzuki H, Robinson MK, Rounds JD,

- Jacos DO, Wilmore DW. 1994. Glutathione deficiency accentuates hepatocellular fluid accumulation after ischemia-reperfusion. *J. Surg. Res.* 57: 632–39
- 161. Swartz-Basile DA, Rubin DC, Levin MS. 2000. Vitamin A status modulates intestinal adaptation after partial small bowel resection. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 24:81–88
- 162. Szkudlarek J, Jeppesen PB, Mortensen PB. 2000. Effect of high dose growth hormone with glutamine and no change in diet on intestinal absorption in short bowel patients: a randomised, double blind, crossover, placebo controlled study. Gut 47:199–205
- 163. Tahiri M, Tressol JC, Arnaud J, Bornet F, Bouteloup-Demange C, et al. 2001. Five-week intake of short-chain fructo-oligosaccharides increases intestinal absorption and status of magnesium in postmenopausal women. J. Bone Miner. Res. 16:2152–60
- 164. Tamada H, Nezu R, Matsuo Y, Imamura I, Takagi Y, Okada A. 1993. Alanyl glutamine-enriched total parenteral nutrition restores intestinal adaptation after either proximal or distal massive resection in rats. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 17:236–42
- 165. Tappenden KA, Drozdowski LA, Thomson AB, McBurney MI. 1998. Shortchain fatty acid-supplemented total parenteral nutrition alters intestinal structure, glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) mRNA and protein, and proglucagon mRNA abundance in normal rats. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 68:118–25
- Teitelbaum JE, Walker WA. 2002. Nutritional impact of pre- and probiotics as protective gastrointestinal organisms. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 22:107–38
- Thomas S, Anup R, Susama P, Balasubramanian KA. 2001. Nitric oxide prevents intestinal mitochondrial dysfunction induced by surgical stress. *Br. J. Surg.* 88:393–99

- 168. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Thiesen A, Clandinin MT, Ropeleski M, Wild GE. 2001. Small bowel review: diseases of the small intestine. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 46: 2555–66
- 169. Topping DL, Clifton PM. 2001. Shortchain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol. Rev.* 81:1031–64
- 170. Traber MG, Schiano TD, Steephen AC, Kayden HJ, Shike M. 1994. Efficacy of water-soluble vitamin E in the treatment of vitamin E malabsorption in short-bowel syndrome. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 59:1270–74
- 171. Turvill JL, Wapnir RA, Wingertzahn MA, Teichberg S, Farthing MJ. 2000. Cholera toxin-induced secretion in rats is reduced by a soluble fiber, gum arabic. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 45:946–51
- 172. Ukleja A, Scolapio JS, Buchman AL. 2002. Nutritional management of short bowel syndrome. *Semin. Gastrointest.* Dis. 13:161–68
- 173. Van der Hulst RRW, van Kreel BK, von Meyenfeldt MF, Brummer RJ, Arends JW, et al. 1993. Glutamine and the preservation of gut integrity. *Lancet* 341:1363–65
- 174. Vanderhoof JA, Blackwood DJ, Mahammadpou H, Park JH. 1997. Effects of oral supplementation of glutamine on small intestineal mucosal mass following resection. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 11:223–27
- 175. Vanderhoof JA, Grandjean CJ, Kaufman SS, Burkley KT, Antonson DL. 1984. Effect of high percentage medium-chain triglyceride diet on mucosal adaptation following massive bowel resection in rats. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 8:685–89
- 176. Vanderhoof JA, Park JH, Grandjean CJ. 1986. Effect of zinc deficiency on mucosal hyperplasia following 70% bowel resection. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 44:670–77
- 176a. van der Schoor SR, van Goudoever JB, Stoll B, Henry JF, Rosenberger JR, et al. 2001. The pattern of intestinal substrate

- oxidation is altered by protein restriction in pigs. *Gastroenterology* 121:1167–75
- 177. Vernia P, Fracasso PL, Casale V, Villotti G, Marcheggiano A, et al. 2000. Topical butyrate for acute radiation proctitis: randomized, crossover trial. *Lancet* 356:1232–35
- 178. Vernia P, Monteleone G, Grandinetti G, Villotti G, Di Giulio E, et al. 2000. Combined oral sodium butyrate and mesalazine treatment compared to oral mesalazine alone in ulcerative colitis: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 45:976–81
- Vidyasagar S, Ramakrishna BS. 2002.
 Effects of butyrate on active sodium and chloride transport in rat and rabbit distal colon. J. Physiol. 539:163–713
- 180. Wang J, Swartz-Basile DA, Rubin DC, Levin MS. 1997. Retinoic acid stimulates early cellular proliferation in the adapting remnant rat small intestine after partial resection. J. Nutr. 127:1297–1303
- Wapnir RA. 2000. Zinc deficiency, malnutrition and the gastrointestinal tract. J. Nutr. 130:1388-92S
- 182. Warden RA, Noltorp RS, Francis JL, Dunkley PR, O'Loughlin EV. 1997. Vitamin A deficiency exacerbates methotrexate-induced jejunal injury in rats. J. Nutr. 127:770–76
- 183. Wendland BE, Aghdassi E, Tam C, Carrier J, Steinhart AH, et al. 2001. Lipid peroxidation and plasma antioxidant micronutrients in Crohn disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 74:259–64
- 184. Wheeler MD, Ikejema K, Enomoto N, Stacklewitz RF, Seabra V, et al. 1999. Glycine: a new anti-inflammatory immunonutrient. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 56:843–56
- Williamson RCN. 1978. Intestinal adaptation I and II. N. Engl. J. Med. 298: 1393–1402, 1444–50
- 186. Wilmore DW. 2002. Why should a single nutrient reduce mortality? Crit. Care Med. 30:2153–54

- 187. Wiren M, Magnusson KE, Larsson J. 1998. The role of glutamine, serum and energy factors in growth of enterocytelike cell lines. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 30:1331–36
- 188. Wischmeyer PE, Kahana M, Wolfson R, Ren H, Mucsh MM, Chang EB. 2001. Glutamine reduces cytokine release, organ damage, and mortality in a rat model of endotoxemia. Shock 16:398–402
- 189. Wischmeyer PE, Lynch J, Liedel J, Wolfson R, Riehm J, et al. 2001. Glutamine administration reduces Gram-negative bacteremia in severely burned patients: a prospective, randomized, double-blind trial versus isonitrogenous control. Crit. Care Med. 29:2075–80
- 190. Witte MB, Barbul A. 2002. Role of nitric oxide in wound repair. Am. J. Surg. 183:406–12
- 191. Woolf GM, Miller C, Kurian R, Jeejeebhoy KN. 1983. Diet for patients with a short bowel: high fat or high carbohydrate? *Gastroenterology* 84:823–28
- 192. Wu G, Meininger CJ, Knabe DA, Bazer FW, Rhoads JM. 2000. Arginine nutrition in development, health and disease. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 3:59–66
- 193. Yoshida N, Yoshikawa T, Yamaguchi T, Naito Y, Tanigawa T, et al. 1999. A novel water-soluble vitamin E derivative protects against experimental colitis in rats. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 1:555–62
- 194. Zamora SA, Amin HJ, McMillan DD, Kubes P, Fick GH, et al. 1997. Plasma L-arginine concentrations in premature infants with necrotizing enterocolitis. *J. Pediatr.* 131:226–32
- 195. Zhang W, Frankel WL, Bain A, Choi D, Klurfeld DM, et al. 1995. Glutamine reduces bacterial translocation after small bowel transplantation in cyclosporinetreated rats. J. Surg. Res. 58:159– 64
- 196. Zhou X, Li YX, Li N, Li JS. 2001. Glutamine enhances the gut-trophic effect of growth hormone in rat after

- massive small bowel resection. *J. Surg. Res.* 99:47–52
- 197. Zhu W, Li N, Ren J, Gu J, Jiang J, Li J. 2002. Rehabilitation therapy for short bowel syndrome. *Chin. Med. J.* 115:776– 78
- 198. Ziegler TR, Young LS, Benfell K, Scheltinga M, Hortos K, et al. 1992. Clinical and metabolic efficacy of glutaminesupplemented parenteral nutrition after bone marrow transplantation. A randomized, double-blind, controlled study. Ann. Intern. Med. 116:821–28
- 199. Ziegler TR, Almahfouz A, Pedrini MT, Smith RJ. 1995. A comparison of rat small intestinal insulin and IGF-I receptors during fasting and refeeding. Endocrinology 136:5148–54
- 200. Ziegler TR, Mantell MP, Chow JC, Rombeau JL, Smith RJ. 1996. Gut adaptation and the insulin-like growth factor system: regulation by glutamine and insulin-like growth factor-I administration. Am. J. Physiol. 271:G866–75
- Ziegler TR, Estívariz CF, Jonas CR, Gu
 LH, Jones DP, Leader LM. 1999. In-

- teractions between nutrients and peptide growth factors in intestinal growth, repair and function. *J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 23:S174–83
- Ziegler TR, Bazargan N, Leader LM, Martindale RG. 2000. Glutamine and the gastrointestinal tract. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metabol. Care 3:355–62
- Ziegler TR. 2001. Glutamine supplementation in cancer patients receiving bone marrow transplantation and highdose chemotherapy. J. Nutr. 131:2578– 84S
- 204. Ziegler TR, Estivariz CF, Gu LH, Wallace TM, Díaz EE, et al. 2002. Distribution of H⁺/peptide transporter PepT1 in human intestine: up-regulated expression in the colonic mucosa of patients with short bowel syndrome. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 75:922–30
- 205. Zinc Investigators Collaborative Group. 1999. Prevention of diarrhea and pneumonia with zinc supplementation in children in developing countries: pooled analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Pediatr. 135:689–97



Contents

FRONTISPIECE—Frank Chytil	xiv
ROUGH AND ROCKY ROAD TO THE RETINOID REVOLUTION, Frank Chytil	1
MECHANISM AND REGULATION OF SELENOPROTEIN SYNTHESIS, Donna M. Driscoll and Paul R. Copeland	17
IRON STATUS AND NEURAL FUNCTIONING, John L. Beard and James R. Connor	41
INSIGHTS INTO THE PATHOGENESIS OF GALACTOSEMIA, Nancy D. Leslie	59
DIET AND NUTRITION IN POOR AND MINORITY COMMUNITIES IN THE UNITED STATES 100 YEARS AGO, Robert Dirks	81
DIFFERENT APPROACHES TO DEFINE INDIVIDUAL AMINO ACID REQUIREMENTS, Paul B. Pencharz and Ronald O. Ball	101
VITAMIN D AND ITS ANALOGS AS REGULATORS OF IMMUNE ACTIVATION AND ANTIGEN PRESENTATION, Matthew D. Griffin, Nianzeng Xing, and Rajiv Kumar	117
NUTRITION AND PREVENTION OF TYPE 2 DIABETES, T. Costacou and E.J. Mayer-Davis	147
BIOLOGIC MECHANISMS OF THE PROTECTIVE ROLE OF LUTEIN AND ZEAXANTHIN IN THE EYE, Norman I. Krinsky, John T. Landrum, and Richard A. Bone	171
NUTRITIONAL REGULATION OF MILK FAT SYNTHESIS, Dale E. Bauman and J. Mikko Griinari	203
TROPHIC AND CYTOPROTECTIVE NUTRITION FOR INTESTINAL ADAPTATION, MUCOSAL REPAIR, AND BARRIER FUNCTION, Thomas R. Ziegler, Mary E. Evans, Concepción Fernández-Estívariz, and Dean P. Jones	229
NUTRITION IN THE PERIOPERATIVE PATIENT, Lyn Howard and	
Christopher Ashley	263
PHYSIOLOGY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF DIETARY IRON ABSORPTION, Silvia Miret, Robert J. Simpson, and Andrew T. McKie	283

GUGULIPID: A NATURAL CHOLESTEROL-LOWERING AGENT, Nancy L. Urizar and David D. Moore	303
CHALLENGES AND APPROACHES TO REDUCING FOODBORNE ILLNESS, Catherine E. Woteki and Brian D. Kineman	315
DIETARY, EVOLUTIONARY, AND MODERNIZING INFLUENCES ON THE PREVALENCE OF TYPE 2 DIABETES, Leslie Sue Lieberman	345
IN VIVO MEASUREMENT OF FLUXES THROUGH METABOLIC PATHWAYS: THE MISSING LINK IN FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS AND PHARMACEUTICAL RESEARCH, Marc K. Hellerstein	379
COMMON ENDOCRINE CONTROL OF BODY WEIGHT, REPRODUCTION, AND BONE MASS, Shu Takeda, Florent Elefteriou, and Gerard Karsenty	403
INDEXES	
Subject Index	413
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 19–23	433
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 19–23	436

ERRATA

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Nutrition* chapters (if any, 1997 to the present) may be found at http://nutr.annualreviews.org/